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(1) Has appeared before the National 
Board; or 

(2) Has withdrawn his request to ap-
pear; or 

(3) Has waived his right to an oppor-
tunity to appear; or 

(4) Has failed to appear. 
(p) Whenever the National Board or 

the panel thereof to which a case has 
been assigned cannot act on the case of 
a registrant, and there is no other 
panel of the National Board to which 
the case may be transferred, the deci-
sion of the District Appeal Board will 
be final. 

(q) In considering a registrant’s ap-
peal, the board shall not receive or con-
sider any information other than the 
following: 

(1) Information contained in the reg-
istrant’s file; and 

(2) Oral statements by the registrant 
at the registrant’s personal appear-
ance; and 

(3) Written evidence submitted by the 
registrant to the board during his per-
sonal appearance. 

(r) In the event that the board classi-
fies the registrant in a class other than 
that which he requested, it shall record 
its reasons therefor in his file. 

(s) The making of verbatim tran-
scripts, and the using of cameras or 
other recording devices are prohibited 
in proceedings before the board. This 
does not prevent the registrant or Se-
lective Service from making a written 
summary of his testimony. 

(t) Proceedings before the National 
Appeal Board are closed to the public. 

[47 FR 4663, Feb. 1, 1982, as amended at 52 FR 
24459, July 1, 1987] 

§ 1653.4 File to be returned after ap-
peal to the President is decided. 

When the appeal to the President has 
been decided, the file shall be returned 
as prescribed by the Director of Selec-
tive Service. 

PART 1656—ALTERNATIVE SERVICE 

Sec. 
1656.1 Purpose; definitions. 
1656.2 Order to perform alternative service. 
1656.3 Responsibility for administration. 
1656.4 Alternative Service Office: jurisdic-

tion and authority. 
1656.5 Eligible employment. 
1656.6 Overseas assignments. 

1656.7 Employer responsibilities. 

1656.8 Employment agreements. 

1656.9 Alternative service worker’s respon-
sibilities. 

1656.10 Job placement. 

1656.11 Job performance standards and sanc-
tions. 

1656.12 Job reassignment. 

1656.13 Review of alternative service job as-
signments. 

1656.14 Postponement of reporting date. 

1656.15 Suspension of order to perform alter-
native service because of hardship to de-
pendents. 

1656.16 Early release—grounds and proce-
dures. 

1656.17 Administrative complaint process. 

1656.18 Computation of creditable time. 

1656.19 Completion of alternative service. 

1656.20 Expenses for emergency medical 
care. 

AUTHORITY: Sec. 6(j) Military Selective 
Service Act; 50 U.S.C. App. 456(j). 

SOURCE: 48 FR 16676, Apr. 19, 1983, unless 
otherwise noted. 

§ 1656.1 Purpose; definitions. 

(a) The provisions of this part govern 
the administration of registrants in 
Class 1-W and the Alternative Service 
Program. 

(b) The definitions of this paragraph 
shall apply in the interpretation of the 
provisions of this part: 

(1) Alternative Service (AS). Civilian 
work performed in lieu of military 
service by a registrant who has been 
classified in Class 1-W. 

(2) Alternative Service Office (ASO). An 
office to administer the Alternative 
Service Program in a specified geo-
graphical area. 

(3) Alternative Service Office Manager 
(ASOM). The head of the ASO. 

(4) Alternative Service Work. Civilian 
work which contributes to the mainte-
nance of the national health, safety or 
interest, as the Director may deem ap-
propriate. 

(5) Alternative Service Worker (ASW). A 
registrant who has been found to be 
qualified for service and has been or-
dered to perform alternative service 
(Class 1-W). 

(6) Creditable Time. Time that is 
counted toward an ASWs fulfillment of 
his alternative service obligation. 

(7) Director. The Director of Selective 
Service, unless used with a modifier. 
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(8) Employer. Any institution, firm, 
agency or corporation engaged in law-
ful activity in the United States, its 
territories or possessions, or in the 
Commonwealth of Puerto Rico, that 
has been approved by Selective Service 
to employ ASWs. 

(9) Job Assignment. A job with an eli-
gible employer to which an ASW is as-
signed to perform his alternative serv-
ice. 

(10) Job Bank. A current inventory of 
alternative service job openings. 

(11) Job Matching. A comparison of 
the ASW’s work experience, education, 
training, special skills, and work pref-
erences with the requirements of the 
positions in the job bank. 

(12) Job Placement. Assignment of the 
ASW to alternative service work. 

(13) Open Placement. The assignment 
of ASWs without employer interview to 
employers who have agreed to employ 
all ASWs assigned to them up to an 
agreed number. 

[48 FR 16676, Apr. 19, 1983, as amended at 69 
FR 20544, Apr. 16, 2004] 

§ 1656.2 Order to perform alternative 
service. 

(a) The local board of jurisdiction 
shall order any registrant who has been 
classified in Class 1-O or 1-O-S to per-
form alternative service at a time and 
place to be specified by the Director. 

(b) When the local board orders a reg-
istrant to perform alternative service, 
it shall be the duty of the registrant to 
report for and perform alternative 
service at the time and place ordered 
unless the order has been canceled. If 
the time when the registrant is ordered 
to report for alternative service is 
postponed, it shall be the continuing 
duty of the registrant to report for and 
perform alternative service at such 
time and place as he may be reordered. 
Regardless of the time when or the cir-
cumstances under which a registrant 
fails to report for and perform alter-
native service when it is his duty to do 
so, it shall thereafter be his continuing 
duty from day to day to report for and 
perform alternative service at the 
place specified in the order to report 
for and perform alternative service. 

(c) The Director may authorize a 
delay of reporting for alternative serv-
ice for any registrant whose date of in-

duction conflicts with a religious holi-
day historically observed by a recog-
nized church, religious sect or religious 
organization of which he is a member. 
Any registrant so delayed shall report 
for alternative service on the next 
business day following the religious 
holiday. 

(d)(1) Any registrant who is satisfac-
torily pursuing a full-time course of in-
struction at a high school or similar 
institution of learning and is issued an 
order to perform alternative service 
shall, upon presentation of appropriate 
facts in the manner prescribed by the 
Director of Selective Service, have his 
date to report to perform alternative 
service postponed: 

(i) Until the time of his graduation 
therefrom; or 

(ii) Until he attains the twentieth an-
niversary of his birth; or 

(iii) Until the end of his last aca-
demic year, even if he has attained the 
twentieth anniversary of his birth; or 

(iv) Until he ceases satisfactorily to 
pursue such course of instruction, 
whichever is the earliest. 

(2) Any registrant who, while satis-
factorily pursuing a full-time course of 
instruction at a college, university or 
similar institution of learning, is or-
dered to perform alternative service 
shall, upon the presentation of appro-
priate facts in the manner prescribed 
by the Director of Selective Service, 
have his date to report to perform al-
ternative service. 

(i) Until the end of the semester or 
term, or in the case of his last aca-
demic year, the end of the academic 
year; or 

(ii) Until he ceases to satisfactorily 
pursue such course of instruction, 
whichever is the earlier. 

(e) After the order to perform alter-
native service has been issued, the Di-
rector may postpone for a specific time 
the date when such registrant is re-
quired to report in the following cir-
cumstances: 

(1) In the case of the death of a mem-
ber of the registrant’s immediate fam-
ily, extreme emergency involving a 
member of the registrant’s immediate 
family, serious illness or injury of the 
registrant, or other emergency beyond 
the registrant’s control. The period of 
postponement shall not exceed 60 days 
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from the date of the order to perform 
alternative service. When necessary, 
the Director may grant one further 
postponement but the total postpone-
ment shall not exceed 90 days from the 
reporting date on the order to perform 
alternative service. 

(2) When the registrant qualifies and 
is scheduled for a State or National ex-
amination in a profession or occupa-
tion which requires certification before 
being authorized to engage in the prac-
tice of that profession or occupation. 

(f) The Director shall issue to each 
registrant whose reporting date to per-
form alternative service is postponed a 
written notice thereof. 

(g) A postponement of reporting date 
to perform alternative service shall not 
render invalid the order to report for 
alternative service which has been 
issued to the registrant, but shall oper-
ate only to postpone the reporting 
date, and the registrant shall report on 
the new date scheduled without having 
issued to him a new order to report for 
alternative service. 

(h) Any registrant receiving a post-
ponement under the provisions of this 
section, shall, after the expiration of 
such postponement, be rescheduled to 
report for alternative service at the 
place to which he was originally or-
dered. 

[52 FR 8891, Mar. 20, 1987] 

§ 1656.3 Responsibility for administra-
tion. 

(a) The Director in the administra-
tion of the Alternative Service Pro-
gram shall establish and implement ap-
propriate procedures to: 

(1) Assure that the program complies 
with the Selective Service Law; 

(2) Provide information to ASWs 
about their rights and duties; 

(3) Find civilian work for ASWs; 
(4) Place ASWs in jobs approved for 

alternative service; 
(5) Monitor the work performance of 

ASWs placed in the program; 
(6) Order reassignment and authorize 

job separation; 
(7) Issue certificates of completion; 
(8) Specify the location of Alter-

native Service Offices; 
(9) Specify the geographical area in 

which the ASOs shall have jurisdiction 
over ASWs; 

(10) Refer to the Department of Jus-
tice, when appropriate, any ASW who 
fails to perform satisfactorily his alter-
native service; 

(11) Perform all other functions nec-
essary for the administration of the Al-
ternative Service Program; and 

(12) Delegate any of his authority to 
such office, agent or person as he may 
designate and provide as appropriate 
for the subdelegation of such author-
ity. 

(b) The Region Director shall be re-
sponsible for the administration and 
operation of the Alternative Service 
Program in his Region as prescribed by 
the Director. 

(c) The State Director shall perform 
duties for the administration and oper-
ation of the Alternative Service Pro-
gram in his State as prescribed by the 
Director. 

(d) The ASOM shall perform duties 
for the administration and operation of 
the Alternative Service Program as 
prescribed by the Director. 

(1) The ASO shall be an office of 
record that is responsible for the ad-
ministration and operation of the Al-
ternative Service Program in its as-
signed geographical area of jurisdic-
tion. 

(2) The staff of each ASO shall con-
sist of as many compensated employees 
as shall be authorized by the Director. 

(3) Appointment of civilians to ASO 
positions requiring direct dealing with 
ASWs will be made as soon as feasible. 

(e) The manager of an area office 
shall perform duties for Alternative 
Service as prescribed by the Director. 

[48 FR 16676, Apr. 19, 1983, as amended at 69 
FR 20544, Apr. 16, 2004] 

§ 1656.4 Alternative Service Office: ju-
risdiction and authority. 

(a) Jurisdiction over the ASW will be 
transferred from the area office imme-
diately after his classification in Class 
1-W to the ASO that administers the 
Alternative Service Program in the 
area in which he is assigned to perform 
alternative service. 

(b) The ASO shall: 

(1) Evaluate and approve jobs and 
employers for Alternative Service; 

(2) Order the ASW to report for alter-
native service work; 
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(3) Issue such orders as are required 
to schedule the ASW for job interviews; 

(4) Issue such orders as are required 
to schedule the ASW for job placement; 

(5) Monitor the ASW’s job perform-
ance; 

(6) Issue a certificate of satisfactory 
completion of the ASW’s Alternative 
Service obligation; 

(7) Return the ASW to the jurisdic-
tion of the area office from which he 
was directed to perform Alternative 
Service; and 

(8) Perform such other actions the 
Director may authorize as necessary to 
administer the Alternative Service 
Program. 

§ 1656.5 Eligible employment. 

(a) The Director will determine in ac-
cordance with the Selective Service 
Law which civilian employment pro-
grams or activities are appropriate for 
Alternative Service work. 

(1) Employers which are considered 
appropriate for Alternative Service as-
signments are limited to: 

(i) The U.S. Government or a state, 
territory or possession of the United 
States or a political subdivision there-
of, the District of Columbia or the 
Commonwealth of Puerto Rico; 

(ii) Organizations, associations or 
corporations primarily engaged either 
in a charitable activity conducted for 
the benefit of the general public or in 
carrying out a program for the im-
provement of the public health, welfare 
or environment, including educational 
and scientific activities in support 
thereof, when such activity or program 
is not principally for the benefit of the 
members of such organization, associa-
tion or corporation or for increasing 
the membership thereof. 

(2) Employment programs or activi-
ties generally considered to be appro-
priate for Alternative Service work in-
clude: 

(i) Health care services, including but 
not limited to hospitals, nursing 
homes, extended care facilities, clinics, 
mental health programs, hospices, 
community outreach programs and 
hotlines; 

(ii) Educational services, including 
but not limited to teachers, teacher’s 
aides, counseling, administrative sup-
port, parent counseling, recreation, re-

medial programs and scientific re-
search; 

(iii) Environmental programs, includ-
ing but not limited to conservation and 
firefighting, park and recreational ac-
tivities, pollution control and moni-
toring systems, and disaster relief; 

(iv) Social services, including but not 
limited to sheltered or handicapped 
workshops, vocational training or re-
training programs, senior citizens ac-
tivities, crisis intervention and poverty 
relief; 

(v) Community services, including 
but not limited to fire protection, pub-
lic works projects, sanitation services, 
school or public building maintenance, 
correctional facility support programs, 
juvenile rehabilitation programs, and 

(vi) Agricultural work. 
(b) An organization desiring to em-

ploy ASWs is encouraged to submit a 
request in writing to the Director or an 
ASOM for approval. Such requests will 
be considered at any time. 

(c) Selective Service shall negotiate 
employment agreements with prospec-
tive employers with the objective of 
obtaining an adequate number of 
agreements to assure the timely place-
ment of all ASWs. Participating em-
ployers will provide prospective job 
listings to Selective Service. 

(d) Selective Service shall also nego-
tiate employment agreements with eli-
gible employers wherein the employer 
will agree to hire a specified number of 
ASWs for open placement positions. 

(e) A registrant classfied in Class 1-O 
or Class 1-O-S may seek his own alter-
native service work by identifying a 
job with an employer he believes would 
be appropriate for Alternative Service 
assignments and by having the em-
ployer advise the ASO in writing that 
he desires to employ the ASW. The ac-
ceptability of the job and employer so 
identified will be evaluated in accord-
ance with § 1656.5(a). 

[48 FR 16676, Apr. 19, 1983, as amended at 51 
FR 17627, May 14, 1986; 52 FR 8892, Mar. 20, 
1987; 54 FR 27001, June 27, 1989] 

§ 1656.6 Overseas assignments. 

Alternative Service job assignments 
outside the United States, its terri-
tories or possessions or the Common-
wealth of Puerto Rico, will be allowed 
when: 



226 

32 CFR Ch. XVI (7–1–24 Edition) § 1656.7 

(a) The employer is deemed eligible 
to employ ASWs and is based in the 
United States, its territories or posses-
sions, or the Commonwealth of Puerto 
Rico; 

(b) The job meets the criteria listed 
in § 1656.5(a); 

(c) The ASW and the employer sub-
mit a joint application to Selective 
Service for the ASW to be employed in 
a specific job; 

(d) The employer satisfies Selective 
Service that the employer has the ca-
pability to supervise and monitor the 
overseas work of the ASW; and 

(e) International travel is provided 
without expense to Selective Service. 

§ 1656.7 Employer responsibilities. 

Employers participating in the Alter-
native Service Program are responsible 
for: 

(a) Complying with the employment 
agreement with Selective Service; 

(b) Providing a clear statement of du-
ties, responsibilities, compensation and 
employee benefits to the ASW; 

(c) Providing full-time employment 
for ASWs; 

(d) Assuring that wages, hours and 
working conditions of ASWs confrom 
with Federal, state and local laws; 

(e) Providing adequate supervision of 
ASWs in their employ; and 

(f) Providing nondiscriminatory 
treatment of ASWs in their employ. 

§ 1656.8 Employment agreements. 

(a) Nature of Agreement. Before any 
ASW is placed with an employer, Selec-
tive Service and the employer shall 
enter into an employment agreement 
that specifies their respective duties 
and responsibilities under the Alter-
native Service Program. 

(b) Restrictions on Selective Service. 
The Selective Service System shall not 
act in any controversy involving 
ASW’s wages, hours and working condi-
tions except to the extent any of these 
subjects is specifically covered in 
§ 1656.7, § 1656.9, or the employment 
agreement between Selective Service 
and the employer. 

(c) Investigating and Negotiating. 
Whenever there is evidence that an em-
ployer appears to be in violation of 
§ 1656.7, Selective Service will inves-
tigate the matter. If the investigation 

produces substantial evidence of viola-
tions of § 1656.7, Selective Service will 
resolve the matter. 

(d) Termination of Employment Agree-
ment. If a resolution of a dispute can-
not be reached by negotiation within a 
reasonable time, the Selective Service 
System shall terminate the employ-
ment agreement and shall reassign the 
ASW. 

§ 1656.9 Alternative service worker’s 
responsibilities. 

(a) A registrant classified in Class 1- 
W is required to comply with all orders 
issued under this part. 

(b) A registrant classified in Class 1- 
W is liable to perform 24 months of 
creditable time toward completion of 
Alternative Service, unless released 
earlier by the Director. 

§ 1656.10 Job placement. 

(a) Selective Service will maintain a 
job bank for the exclusive purpose of 
placing ASWs in alternative service 
jobs. 

(b) An ASW who has identified his 
own job in accordance with § 1656.5(e) of 
this part may be assigned by the ASO 
in that job pending review of the job by 
Selective Service. If the job is then ap-
proved as Alternative Service Work in 
accordance with § 1656.5(a) the ASW 
will receive creditable time beginning 
with the date he was placed on the job 
by Selective Service. If the job is not 
approved he will not receive creditable 
time and will be placed by Selective 
Service in a position approved for Al-
ternative Service Work. Selective 
Service must review the job within 30 
calendar days of the time it assigned 
the ASW to begin work. If the elapsed 
time from date of placement to the 
date of Selective Service review ex-
ceeds 30 days, the ASW will receive 
creditable time from the date of place-
ment regardless of the final determina-
tion of employer eligibility made by 
Selective Service. If the placement is 
ultimately determined to be inappro-
priate for Alternative Service the ASW 
will be reassigned in accordance with 
§ 1656.12. 

(c) In making job interview referrals 
and in making assignments of ASWs to 
jobs, Selective Service will consider 
the compatibility of the ASW’s skills, 
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work experience, and preferences with 
the qualification criteria for the job. 

(d) When An ASW is hired, the ASO 
will issue a Job Placement Order speci-
fying the employer, the time, date and 
place to report for his alternative serv-
ice work. 

(e) The ASO will normally place the 
ASW in an alternative service job with-
in 30 calendar days after classification 
in Class 1-W. 

§ 1656.11 Job performance standards 
and sanctions. 

(a) Standards of Performance. An ASW 
is responsible for adhering to the 
standards of conduct, attitude, appear-
ance and performance demanded by the 
employer of his other employees in 
similar jobs. If there are no other em-
ployees, the standards shall conform to 
those that are reasonable and cus-
tomary in a similar job. 

(b) Failure to Perform. An ASW will be 
deemed to have failed to perform satis-
factorily whenever: 

(1) He refuses to comply with an 
order of the Director issued under this 
part; 

(2) He refuses employment by an ap-
proved employer who agrees to hire 
him; 

(3) His employer terminates the 
ASW’s employment because his con-
duct, attitude, appearance or perform-
ance violates reasonable employer 
standards; or 

(4) He quits or leaves his job without 
reasonable justification, and has not 
submitted an appeal of his job assign-
ment to the District Appeal Board. 

(c) Sanctions for ASW’s Failure to Per-
form. (1) The sanctions for failure to 
meet his Alternative Service obliga-
tion are job reassignment, loss of cred-
itable time during such period and re-
ferral to the Department of Justice for 
failure to comply with the Military Se-
lective Service Act. 

(2) Prior to invoking any of the sanc-
tions discussed herein, the ASO will 
conduct a review as prescribed in 
§ 1656.17 of all allegations that an ASW 
has failed to perform pursuant to any 
of the provisions of § 1656.11(b). 

[48 FR 16676, Apr. 19, 1983, as amended at 69 

FR 20544, Apr. 16, 2004] 

§ 1656.12 Job reassignment. 

(a) Grounds for Reassignment. The Di-
rector may reassign an ASW whenever 
the Director determines that: 

(1) The job assignment violates the 
ASW’s religious, moral or ethical be-
liefs or convictions as to participation 
in a war that led to his classification 
as a conscientious objector or violates 
§ 1656.5(a) of this part. 

(2) An ASW experiences a change in 
his mental or physical condition which 
renders him unfit or unable to continue 
performing satisfactorily in his as-
signed job; 

(3) An ASW’s dependents incur a 
hardship which is not so severe as to 
justify a suspension of the Order to 
Perform Alternative Service under 
§ 1656.15; 

(4) The ASW’s employer ceases to op-
erate an approved program or activity; 

(5) The ASW’s employer fails to com-
ply with terms and conditions of these 
regulations or; 

(6) Continual and severe differences 
between the ASW’s employer and ASW 
remain unresolved. 

(7) The sanctions authorized in 
§ 1656.11 should be applied. 

(b) Who May Request Reassignment. 
Any ASW may request reassignment to 
another job. An employer may request 
job reassignment of an ASW who is in 
his employ. 

(c) Method for Obtaining a Reassign-
ment. All requests for reassignment 
must be in writing with the reasons 
specified. The request may be filed 
with the ASO of jurisdiction at any 
time during an ASW’s alternative serv-
ice employment. An ASW must con-
tinue in his assigned job, if available, 
until the request for assignment is ap-
proved. 

§ 1656.13 Review of alternative service 
job assignments. 

(a) Review of ASW job assignments 
will be accomplished in accordance 
with the provisions of this subsection. 

(b) Whenever the ASW believes that 
his job assignment violates his reli-
gious, moral or ethical beliefs or con-
victions as to participation in war that 
led to his classification as a conscien-
tious objector or is in violation of the 
provisions of this part he may request 
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a reassignment by the ASOM, as pro-
vided for in § 1656.12. 

(c) The ASOM shall reassign the ASW 
if the ASOM concludes that the ASW’s 
work assignment violates his religious, 
moral or ethical beliefs or convictions 
as to participation in war which led to 
his classification as a CO or is in viola-
tion of the provisions of this part. 

(d) If the ASOM does not reassign the 
ASW, the ASW may, within 15 days 
after the date of mailing of the deci-
sion of the ASOM, request a review of 
his job assignment by a District Appeal 
Board. 

(e) It shall be the function of the Dis-
trict Appeal Board to determine wheth-
er or not an ASW’s job assignment vio-
lates the ASW’s religious, moral, or 
ethical beliefs of convictions as to par-
ticipation in war which led to his clas-
sification as a conscientious objector 
or is in violation of the provisions 
§ 1656.5(a) of this part. In making the 
former determination, the Review 
Board must be convinced by the ASW 
that if the ASW performed the job, his 
convictions as to participation in war 
would be violated in a similar way as if 
the ASW had participated in war. 

(f) The District Appeal Board may af-
firm the assignment or order the reas-
signment of the ASW in any matter 
considered by it. 

(g) Procedures of the District Appeal 
Board are: 

(1) Appeals to the Board shall be in 
writing, stating as clearly as possible 
the ground for the appeal. 

(2) The ASW may appear before the 
Board at his request. He may not be 
represented by counsel or present wit-
nesses. The ASOM or his representative 
may represent the Selective Service 
System at the hearing and present evi-
dence. 

(3) The Board’s determination will be 
based on all documents in the ASW’s 
file folder and statements made at the 
hearing. 

(4) The decision of the Board will be 
binding only in the case before it. A de-
cision of a Board will not be relied 
upon by a Board in any other case. 

(5) A decision of the Board is not sub-
ject to review within the Selective 
Service System. 

[48 FR 16676, Apr. 19, 1983, as amended at 69 
FR 20544, Apr. 16, 2004] 

§ 1656.14 Postponement of reporting 
date. 

(a) General. The reporting date in any 
of the following orders may be post-
poned in accord with this section. 

(1) Report for Job Placement; 
(2) Report for a Job Interview; or 
(3) Report to an Employer to Com-

mence Employment. 
(b) Requests for Postponement. A re-

quest for postponement of a reporting 
date specified in an order listed in 
paragraph (a) must be made in writing 
and filed prior to the reporting date 
with the office which issued the order. 
Such requests must include a state-
ment of the nature of the emergency 
and the expected period of its duration. 

(c) Grounds for Postponement. An ASW 
may, upon presentation of the appro-
priate facts in his request, be granted a 
postponement based on one or more of 
the following conditions: 

(1) The death of a member of his im-
mediate family; 

(2) An extreme emergency involving 
a member of his immediate family; 

(3) His serious illness or injury; or 
(4) An emergency condition directly 

affecting him which is beyond his con-
trol. 

(d) Basis for Considering Request. The 
ASW’s eligibility for a postponement 
shall be determined by the office of ju-
risdiction based upon official docu-
ments and other written information 
contained in his file. Oral statements 
made by the ASW or made by another 
person in support of the ASW shall be 
reduced to writing and placed in the 
ASW’s file. 

(e) Duration of Postponement. The ini-
tial postponement shall not exceed 60 
days from the reporting date in the 
order. When necessary, the Director 
may grant one further postponement, 
but the total postponement period 
shall not exceed 90 days from the re-
porting date in the order invovled. 

(f) Termination of Postponement. (1) A 
postponement may be terminated by 
the Director for cause upon no less 
than ten days written notice to the 
ASW. 

(2) Any postponement shall be termi-
nated when the basis for the postpone-
ment has ceased to exist. 

(3) It is the responsibility of the ASW 
promptly to notify in writing the office 
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that granted the postponement when-
ever the basis for which his postpone-
ment was granted ceases to exist. 

(g) Effect of Postponement. A post-
ponement of the reporting date in an 
order shall not render the order in-
valid, but shall only serve to postpone 
the date on which the ASW is to re-
port. The ASW shall report at the expi-
ration or termination of the postpone-
ment. 

(h) Religious Holiday. The Director 
may authorize a delay of reporting 
under any of the orders specified for an 
ASW whose date to report conflicts 
with a religious holiday historically 
observed by a recognized church, reli-
gious sect or religious organization of 
which he is a member. Any ASW so de-
layed shall report on the next business 
day following the religious holiday. 

§ 1656.15 Suspension of order to per-
form alternative service because of 
hardship to dependents. 

(a) Whenever, after an ASW has 
begun work, a condition develops that 
results in hardship to his dependent as 
contemplated by § 1630.30(a) of this 
chapter which cannot be alleviated by 
his reassignment under § 1656.12 (a)(3) of 
this part, the ASW may request a sus-
pension of Order to Perform Alter-
native Service. If the local board that 
ordered the ASW to report for Alter-
native Service determines he would be 
entitled to classification in Class 3-A, 
assuming that the ASW were eligible 
to file a claim for that class, further 
compliance with his order shall be sus-
pended for a period not to exceed 365 
days, as the local board specifies. Ex-
tensions of not more than 365 days each 
may be granted by the local board so 
long as the hardship continues until 
the ASW’s liability for training and 
service under the Military Selective 
Service Act terminates. 

(b) An ASW may file a request for the 
suspension of his Order to Perform Al-
ternative Service with the ASO. This 
request must be in writing, state as 
clearly as possible the basis for the re-
quest, and be signed and dated by the 
ASW. The ASW must continue working 
in his assigned job until his request for 
the suspension of his Order to Perform 
Alternative Service has been approved. 

(c) Local boards shall follow the pro-
cedures established in parts 1642 and 
1648 of this chapter to the extent they 
are applicable in considering a request 
for the suspension of an Order to Per-
form Alternative Service. 

§ 1656.16 Early release—grounds and 
procedures. 

(a) General Rule of Service Completion. 
An ASW will not be released from al-
ternative service prior to completion of 
24 months of creditable service unless 
granted an early release. 

(b) Reasons For Early Release. The Di-
rector may authorize the early release 
of an ASW whenever the ASO deter-
mines that the ASW: 

(1) Has failed to meet the perform-
ance standards of available alternative 
service employment because of phys-
ical, mental or moral reasons; 

(2) No longer meets the physical, 
mental or moral standards that are re-
quired for retention in the Armed 
Forces based on a physical or mental 
examination at a MEPS or other loca-
tion designated by Selective Service; 

(3) Is planning to return to school 
and has been accepted by such school 
and scheduled to enter within 30 days 
prior to the scheduled completion of 
his alternative service obligation; 

(4) Has been accepted for employ-
ment and that such employment will 
not be available if he remains in alter-
native service the full 24 months. Such 
early release shall not occur more than 
30 days before the scheduled comple-
tion of his alternative service obliga-
tion; or 

(5) Has enlisted in or has been in-
ducted into the Armed Forces of the 
United States. 

(c) Reclassification and Records. Upon 
granting an early release to an ASW, 
the Director will reclassify the ASW 
and transfer his records in accordance 
with § 1656.19 of this part. 

§ 1656.17 Administrative complaint 
process. 

(a) Whenever the ASOM learns that 
the ASW may have failed to perform 
satisfactorily his work (see § 1656.11(b)) 
or he receives a complaint by an em-
ployer or an ASW involving the ASW’s 
work other than matters described in 
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§ 1656.8(b) of this part, he shall take 
necessary action to: 

(1) Interview, as appropriate, all par-
ties concerned to obtain information 
relevant to the problems or com-
plaints; 

(2) Place a written summary of each 
interview in the ASW’s file and em-
ployer’s file; 

(3) Inform the persons interviewed 
that they may prepare and submit to 
him within ten days after the interview 
their personal written statements con-
cerning the problem; 

(4) Place such statements in the 
ASW’s file; and 

(5) Resolve the matter. 

(b) The employer or ASW may seek a 
review of the decision pursuant to 
§ 1656.17(a)(5). Such request must be 
filed in writing with the ASO, for ac-
tion by the State Director of Selective 
Service, within ten days after the date 
the notice of the decision is trans-
mitted to the ASW and employer. 

§ 1656.18 Computation of creditable 
time. 

(a) Creditable time starts when the 
ASW begins work pursuant to an Order 
to Perform Alternative Service or 30 
days after the issuance of such order, 
whichever occurs first. Creditable time 
will accumulate except for periods of: 

(1) Work of less than 35 hours a week 
or an employer’s full-time work week 
whichever is greater; 

(2) Leaves of absence in a calendar 
year of more than 5 days in the aggre-
gate granted by the employer to the 
ASW to attend to his personal affairs 
unless such absence is approved by the 
ASOM; 

(3) Time during which an ASW fails 
or neglects to perform satisfactorily 
his assigned Alternative Service; 

(4) Time during which the ASOM de-
termines that work of the ASW is un-
satisfactory because of his failure to 
comply with reasonable requirements 
of his employer; 

(5) Time during which the ASW is not 
employed in an approved job because of 
his own fault; or 

(6) Time during which the ASW is in 
a postponement period or his Order to 
Perform Alternative Service has been 
suspended. 

(b) Creditable time will be awarded 
for periods of travel, job placement and 
job interviews performed under orders 
issued by Selective Service. Creditable 
time may be awarded for normal em-
ployer leave periods. 

(c) Creditable time will be awarded to 
an ASW for the time lost after he 
leaves his job assignment following his 
request for reassignment on the basis 
of § 1656.13(b) of this part until he is re-
assigned pursuant to § 1656.13 (c) or (f) 
of this part. Creditable time for the 
corresponding period will be lost if nei-
ther the ASOM nor the District Appeal 
Board orders the ASW’s reassignment 
on the basis of § 1656.12(a)(1) of this 
part. 

[48 FR 16676, Apr. 19, 1983, as amended at 69 
FR 20544, Apr. 16, 2004] 

§ 1656.19 Completion of alternative 
service. 

Upon completion of 24 months of 
creditable time served in alternative 
service or when released early in ac-
cordance with § 1656.16(b) (3) or (4): 

(a) The ASW shall be released from 
the Alternative Service Program; and 

(b) The Director shall issue to the 
ASW a Certificate of Completion and 
the registrant shall be reclassified in 
Class 4-W in accordance with § 1630.47 of 
this chapter, and 

(c) The ASW’s records shall be re-
turned to the area office of jurisdiction 
after the ASW has completed his obli-
gation or has been separated from the 
Alternative Service Program for any 
reason. 

§ 1656.20 Expenses for emergency med-
ical care. 

(a) Claims for payment of actual and 
reasonable expenses for emergency 
medical care, including hospitaliza-
tion, of ASWs who suffer illness or in-
jury, and the transportation and burial 
of the remains of ASWs who suffer 
death as a direct result of such illness 
or injury will be paid in accordance 
with the provisions of this section. 

(b) The term ‘‘emergency medical 
care, including hospitalization’’, as 
used in this section, means such med-
ical care or hospitalization that nor-
mally must be rendered promptly after 
occurrence of the illness or injury ne-
cessitating such treatment. Discharge 
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by a physician or facility subsequent to 

such medical care or hospitalization 

shall terminate the period of emer-

gency. 

(c) Claims will be considered only for 

expenses: 

(1) For which only the ASW is liable 

and for which there is no legal liability 

for his reimbursement except in accord 

with the provisions of this section; and 

(2) That are incurred as a result of 

illness or injury that occurs while the 

ASW is acting in accord with orders of 

Selective Service to engage in travel or 

perform work for his Alternative Serv-

ice employer. 

(d) No claim shall be allowed in any 

case in which the Director determines 

that the injury, illness, or death oc-

curred because of the negligence or 

misconduct of the ASW. 

(e) No claim shall be paid unless it is 

presented to the Director within one 

year after the date on which the ex-

pense was incurred. 

(f) Cost of emergency medical care 

including hospitalization greater than 

usual and customary fees for service 

established by the Social Security Ad-

ministration, will prima facie be consid-

ered unreasonable. Payment for burial 

expenses shall not exceed the max-

imum that the Administrator of Vet-

eran’s Affairs may pay under the provi-

sions of 38 U.S.C. 902(a) in any one case. 

(g) Payment of claims when allowed 

shall be made only directly to the ASW 

or his estate unless written authoriza-

tion of the ASW or the personal rep-

resentative of his estate has been re-

ceived to pay another person. 

PART 1657—OVERSEAS REGISTRANT 
PROCESSING 

Sec. 

1657.1 Purpose; definition. 

1657.2 Local boards. 

1657.3 District appeal boards. 

1657.4 Consideration of claims. 

1657.5 Place of induction. 

1657.6 Transportation. 

AUTHORITY: Military Selective Service Act, 

50 U.S.C. 451 et seq.; E.O. 11623. 

SOURCE: 52 FR 24459, July 1, 1987, unless 

otherwise noted. 

§ 1657.1 Purpose; definition. 

(a) The provisions of this part apply 
to the processing of overseas reg-
istrants, and, where applicable, they 
supersede inconsistent provisions in 
this chapter. 

(b) An overseas registrant is a reg-
istrant whose bona fide current address 
most recently provided by him to the 
Selective Service System is outside the 
United States, its territories or posses-
sions, Commonwealth of Puerto Rico, 
Canada and Mexico. 

§ 1657.2 Local boards. 

The Director shall establish local 
boards with jurisdiction to determine 
claims of overseas registrants. Such 
boards shall consist of three or more 
members appointed by the President. 
The Director shall prescribe the geo-
graphic jurisdiction of each board, and 
designate or establish an area office to 
support it. 

§ 1657.3 District appeal boards. 

The Director shall establish district 
appeal boards with jurisdiction to de-
termine appeals of claims of overseas 
registrants. Such boards shall consist 
of three or more members appointed by 
the President. The Director shall pre-
scribe the geographic jurisdiction of 
each board. 

§ 1657.4 Consideration of claims. 

An overseas registrant’s claim shall 
be determined by a local board (or its 
supporting area office) or appeal board 
as may be established in accord with 
this part or, upon the request of the 
registrant filed no later than the filing 
of his claim for reclassification, by the 
board having geographic jurisdiction 
over his permanent address within the 
United States last reported by him to 
the Selective Service System prior to 
issuance of his induction order. 

§ 1657.5 Place of induction. 

The Director may order an overseas 
registrant to any place in the world for 
induction. 

§ 1657.6 Transportation. 

(a) The Director shall furnish trans-
portation for an overseas registrant 
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